
SELECT COMMITTEE REVIEW

UNIVERSAL CREDIT

Wednesday 14 March 2018
10am
Warspite Room, Council House

Members:
Councillors Mrs Aspinall, Ball, Bowie, Carson, Churchill, Fletcher, Morris, Penberthy and Storer.

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf.

This meeting will be broadcast live to the internet and will be capable of subsequent repeated 
viewing. By entering the Warspite Room and during the course of the meeting, Councillors are 
consenting to being filmed and to the use of those recordings for webcasting.

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Ac.  Data collected during this 
webcast will be retained in accordance with the authority’s published policy.

For further information on webcasting, attending Council meetings and how to engage in the 
democratic process please follow this link http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings

Tracey Lee
Chief Executive

Democratic and Member Support
Chief Executive’s Department
Plymouth City Council
Ballard House
Plymouth  PL1 3BJ

Please ask for  Helen Wright/Amelia 
Boulter
T 01752 304022/304570
E Democratic Support 
www.plymouth.gov.uk/democracy
Published 06/03/18

http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/accesstomeetings
http://www.plymouth.gov.uk/


Select Committee Review: Universal Credit

Agenda

1. Appointment of the Chair and Vice Chair  

The Committee will asked to appoint a Chair and Vice Chair for this meeting.

2. Apologies  

To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Members.

3. Declarations of Interest  

Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on this 
agenda.

4. Chair's Urgent Business  

To receive reports on business, which in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 
forward for urgent consideration.

5. Universal Credit  

5a Overview and Universal Credit Update Report (Pages 1 - 16)

5b Select Committee Review Plan (Pages 17 - 18)

5c Timetable of Witnesses (Pages 19 - 20)

5d Universal Credit Report by Plymouth Citizen's Advice (To Follow)

6. Recommendations 



OFFICIAL: 

UNIVERSAL CREDIT UPDATE
Select Committee Review 14 March 2018

1 BACKGROUND

1.1 The Welfare Reform Act 2012 introduced a range of measures to reform the way in which benefits 
are delivered including the introduction of Universal Credit (UC). 4 years on, the Welfare Reform 
and Work Act 2016 was established with further changes which aim to reward work and back 
aspiration, provide £12bn of national benefit savings and the government anticipates that by 2020, 8 
out of 10 people will be better off. 

1.2 By contrast a report published by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation on living standards, poverty and 
inequality in the UK 2017/18 to 2021/22 predicts that inequality will rise between 2015/16 and 
2021/22, as working age benefits are cut and real earnings growth boosts the income of higher 
income households. In addition, at the UK level, absolute poverty is projected to remain roughly 
unchanged between 2015/16 and 2021/22.

1.3 UC replaces six key benefits: Housing Benefit; Job Seekers Allowance; Employment and Support 
Allowance; Child Tax Credits, Working Tax Credits and Income Support. It is administered by the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP). 

1.4 UC is paid monthly in arrears; the initial assessment period is 5 weeks from the date of the claim. 
This is a significant difference to legacy benefits, which are paid fortnightly in arrears. Any UC to 
cover rent is included as the ‘housing cost element’ and included in the single payment made to the 
claimant each month. DWP’s intention is for the majority of claimants to receive all of their UC 
payment rather than paying the housing cost element to landlords. However, landlords can apply for 
an alternative payment arrangement (APA) so that the UC housing cost element is paid directly to 
them. Historically, the vast majority of social housing tenants have chosen for their housing benefit 
to be paid to their landlord and since 2008, the majority of private sector tenants chose to have 
their housing benefit paid to them rather than their landlord.

1.5 UC claimants maintain a relationship with Job Centre Plus to direct in-work progression of both 
hours and wages.  They are allocated a Work Coach who develops a claimant commitment with 
them based on their individual circumstances and ability to work. Failure to meet the commitments 
may result in sanctions.

1.6 UC is administered entirely by the DWP, local authorities have no involvement in the assessment 
process or management of ongoing claims. The DWP shares data with Local authorities relating to 
claimants who may previously have been in receipt of housing benefit for the purposes of ensuring 
there are no incorrect payments made. Local authorities who sign up to the Universal Support 
agreement are responsible to providing assisted digital and personal budgeting support to UC 
claimants. This agreement is explained in more detail in section 5.

 

2 NATIONAL IMPACT

2.1 The Director General of the UC programme for the Department for Work and Pensions wrote to 
all local authority Chief Executives at the beginning of October 2017, following concerns widely 
reported in the media that claimants were experiencing substantial delays in receiving their first UC 
housing cost payment thereby placing them in rent arrears. The biggest reaction to the UC payment 
cycle has come from landlords due to the arrears it creates by virtue of the standard assessment 
time.

2.2 Research from the National Federation of Arms-Length Management Organisations (ALMOs) 
estimates that 60% of tenants were already in arrears before their UC claim started. Year on year, 
the proportion of UC tenants in arrears has fallen.



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

UNIVERSAL CREDIT OFFICIAL Page 2 of 8

2.3 Customers sometimes fail to apply for the housing cost element in their UC application because 
they have previously received housing benefit and mistakenly believe that they do not pay rent. 
Information given by the customer at the time of the claim about the level of rent sometimes differs 
from the information from the landlord, so leads to a delay in assessing the claim.

2.4 DWP introduced a social landlord portal in October 2017 which improves the rent verification 
process and minimises the risk of delayed assessment. This portal is not available to private sector 
landlords and there are no plans to roll it out to that sector.

2.5 The Director General’s letter to local authorities on 2 October 2017 states that full UC payments 
are currently being made at the end of the assessment period in 80% of all cases.

2.6 DWP advice to landlords is for them to make financial plans to account for the difference in 
payments via UC which is paid a month in arrears when they may be used to getting direct 
payments of Housing Benefit fortnightly. DWP state that this timing issue relates to 0.33% of total 
rental income in a year.

2.7 Claimants are offered an advance payment as a matter of course, which is up to 100% of their UC 
monthly award including the housing cost element. Data is not available on the uptake of this offer, 
nationally or locally. This advance is recovered by the DWP from the claimant’s monthly UC 
payment, over a period of up to 12 months.

2.8 Changes to assist UC claimants were announced by the DWP at the end of 2017 and included:

 an increase in the maximum UC advance from 50% to 100%

 spreading the repayment of an advance over up to 12 months rather than 6 months

 removal of the 7 day waiting period, which effectively shortens the assessment period from 
6 to 5 weeks

 Continuation of housing benefit payments for two weeks whilst waiting for a UC 
assessment

2.9 The level of rent arrears that can be recovered increases under UC from 5% to 20%. This means 
that a debt could be cleared more quickly than under the legacy benefits, but also means that the 
payment to the claimant could be reduced more under UC than legacy benefits.

2.10 A report prepared for, and considered by, East Lothian Council in December 2016 described the 
impact of Universal Credit Full Service on mainstream council house rent collection as “severe”. 
This local authority area moved to UC Full Service in March 2016 and owns housing stock: The 
average rent arrears for a UC claimant in their properties is £898.89, for a non-UC case the level is 
£589.49.  Overall, there has been a 12.09% increase in current tenant rent arrears in 2016/17. 
However, for UC claimants, there has been a 22.40% increase in rent arrears. There was no 
evidence given that claimants were facing eviction as a result of the arrears.

2.11 The Halton Housing Trust gave evidence to the Work and Pensions Committee inquiry 2016-17 
that, in Halton, there are 12,000 tenancies across their four main housing associations, UC claimants 
make up 9% of all the tenancies but account for 37% of rent arrears. There was no evidence given 
that claimants were facing eviction as a result of the arrears.



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

UNIVERSAL CREDIT OFFICIAL Page 3 of 8

2.12 The Residential Landlords Association (RLA) supported research carried out by Sheffield Hallam 
University in 2015 which, inter alia, sought the views of RLA members on Universal Credit and their 
experiences of it. They found:

 Of those landlords with tenants in receipt of UC, 25% said that they were in arrears. 

 As a result of UC claimants being in arrears, 34% of landlords said that they had requested 
that payment to cover rents be made directly to them (known as Alternative Payment 
Arrangements or Landlord Managed Payments) which can be put in place where a tenant 
gets into two months of rent arrears. Just 38% of these said that they had been successful 
in achieving this. It is important to note that this research was two years ago and in liaison 
meetings with our social landlords we know that their requests for APAs have been 
successful in all cases.

 In seeking such arrangements, 61% of landlords found the process either “tricky” or “very 
difficult”. The same proportion found that the Department for Work and Pensions was not 
very helpful in dealing with their concerns or queries. 

 The removal of the housing element of UC from being paid to 18-21 year olds has made 
76% of landlords less likely to rent to those in this age group because of worries about 
whether the rent will be paid or not. 

2.13 The Government statement in response to the evidence given about rent arrears was that ‘we 
believe that any arrears of rent associated with UC are likely to be of a short duration, cleared relatively 
quickly and should not present an insurmountable obstacle to landlords over the lifetime of a tenancy. The 
early evidence from UC backs up this hypothesis. In 2015 we found that 48% of UC claimants with housing 
costs were in arrears in the first month of a claim (compared to 31% in JSA), but by month 3 the UC cases 
in rent arrears had fallen to 33% - very close to the historic JSA position’.

3 POTENTIAL IMPACTS OF UNIVERSAL CREDIT 

3.1 Key differences between UC and other benefits are that:

 The standard assessment period is longer

 UC is paid monthly, rather than fortnightly, in arrears. 

People who would have been entitled to housing benefit under the legacy system will receive a 
housing cost element in their UC award and are responsible for paying this to their landlord. 
Claimants may therefore need to adjust their budgeting strategies if they are used to more 
frequent payments. 

3.2 A DWP evaluation of the UC pilot in 2015 found that around three-quarters of UC claimants felt 
confident in monthly budgeting but there was a large difference between people who had simple 
claims (78%) and those with complex claims including housing costs (60%). By the end of the pilot 
16% of UC claimants reported they were falling behind with bills and other financial commitments.

3.3 Universal Credit is also digital by default. According to Ofcom (2015) there are still approximately 
25.4% of addresses in Plymouth without a fixed broadband connection. While this rate of exclusion 
puts Plymouth in the best 40% nationally it nonetheless constitutes a significant challenge which is 
inextricably linked with deprivation. 

3.4 The DWP evaluation in 2015 found that around four in five completed the claim form online 
without support. People whose claim included housing costs experienced more difficulties making 
the claim: the qualitative research revealed there was some initial confusion about whether housing 
costs were included.



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

UNIVERSAL CREDIT OFFICIAL Page 4 of 8

3.5 For tenants in short term emergency temporary accommodation their housing costs will most likely 
be assessed on their rental liability in their move on accommodation. Since this will be paid direct to 
the customer or landlord, it is likely that Plymouth City Council will be unable to recover any of the 
cost of providing emergency temporary accommodation for the remainder of this financial year. 
DWP have confirmed that UC is not the appropriate method for dealing with temporary 
accommodation and it returns to the Housing Benefit regime in April 2018. However, as the system 
is in place now, it has added a significant budget pressure. 

3.6 A separate 2015 DWP evaluation of the short-term impact of Universal Credit on labour market 
outcomes suggests that, compared with similar Jobseeker’s Allowance claimants making equivalent 
claims during the same period (July 2013 – September 2015), Universal Credit Pathfinder claimants 
were 8 percentage points more likely to have been in work within the first 270 days after making 
their claim. Moreover, at every 30 day interval after making their claim, from 30 days to 270 days, 
Universal Credit claimants were between 3 and 6 percentage points more likely to be in work than 
the matched Jobseeker’s Allowance comparison group. 

3.7 In the context of the UK’s exit from the European Union and a general trend towards increasing 
numbers of people in employment this may contribute to helping to overcome potential future 
labour market shortages. 

3.8 Concerns were raised about the impact on young people of the Government policy to remove 
automatic entitlement to support for housing costs for single, childless 18 – 21 year olds claiming 
UC. DWP evaluation published on 11 January 2018 (Appendix B) concludes that 96% of young 
people who applied for support for housing costs through UC were awarded it. 

4 PLYMOUTH ROLL-OUT

4.1 UC (Live Service) began in Plymouth in January 2016 for new, single, JSA claimants. Figures for 
September 2016 were 1,679 claimants and 12 months later in September 2017 there were 1,783 
claimants.

4.2 UC (Full Service) started in Plymouth on 11 October 2017. Full Service is available to all new, 
eligible claimants rather than solely for single customers without children as was the case with Live 
Service. UC (Full Service) was rolled out by postcode areas between October 2017 and January 
2018. For the timetable see Appendix A. In the run up to 2017/18, DWP predicted that 5% of 
claimants would need support for their UC claim. PCC found that in practise, up to 15% of 
claimants needed support. DWP updated their predictions for 2018/19, took into account the 
increased demand and adjusted the funding offer accordingly. See table 1 below for 2017/18 and 
2018/19 predictions. 

Table 1 - DWP Universal Support Predictions 2017/18 and 2018/19:

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total

Service

17/18 18/19 17/18 18/19 17/18 18/19 17/18 18/19 17/18 18/19

ADS 47 160 51 202 375 220 371 207 844 789

PBS 65 266 32 334 382 365 354 345 833 1310



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

UNIVERSAL CREDIT OFFICIAL Page 5 of 8

4.3 DWP benefit data is publically available and can be accessed in a number of ways, including via Stat-
Xplore. Data from Stat-Xplore for January 2018 provides the following intelligence about Plymouth 
claimants and is summarise in tables 2 and 3 below. Some wards may have a disproportionate 
number of UC claimants currently as the roll out has been by postcode.  

Table 2 - Universal Credit Claimants by Ward

Ward Number of Claimants

Budshead 101

Compton 89

Devonport 254

Drake 77

Efford & Lipson 131

Eggbuckland 64

Ham 104

Honicknowle 168

Moor View 57

Peverell 51

Plympton Chaddlewood 25

Plympton Erle 35

Plympton St. Mary 37

Plymstock Dunstone 25

Plymstock Radford 40

Southway 71

St. Budeaux 184

St. Peter & the Waterfront 441

Stoke 177

Sutton & Mount Gould 164

Total 2271

https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/login.xhtml
https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/login.xhtml


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

UNIVERSAL CREDIT OFFICIAL Page 6 of 8

Table 3 - Number of people in Plymouth on Universal Credit by age group

Age group Status Number of Claimants

Not in employment 513

In employment 33716 – 241

Total 847

Not in employment 655

In employment 44425 - 49

Total 1097

Not in employment 206

In employment 12050 plus

Total 322

Not in employment 1373

In employment 896Total

Total 2271

5 LOCAL PARTNERSHIP ACTION

Universal Support

5.1 Plymouth City Council signed a Universal Credit Delivery Partnership agreement with DWP in 
January 2016, to provide UC claimants with personal budgeting support (PBS) and assisted digital 
support (ADS). DWP predicted that 5% of all UC claimants would need this support, however we 
have found that the level needing ADS under UC Full Service was approximately 10% in the first 
month. A revised Universal Support proposal for 2018/19 was received on 22 February 2018 and 
predicts a higher level of claimants needing support (9% of claimants needing ADS and 15% needing 
PBS). 

5.2 PBS is available for UC claimants who are identified as in need of help to manage their finances. 
Primarily, referrals are made via DWP work coaches from a Plymouth Job Centre and PCC have 
contracted Advice Plymouth to provide this service. It has been particularly successful when 
appointments are offered in the Job Centres and the debt adviser from Advice Plymouth has 
worked hard with DWP staff at the Job Centres to provide an extremely valuable service.

5.3 ADS is available for UC claimants who are unable to use a computer and have no one who could 
help them. This is an important service as all UC claims must be made online. This service is offered 
from Plymouth Libraries and is provided by PCC Customer Advisors. The appointment slot offered 
is long enough to support the customer to make a claim for Council Tax Support as well as their 
UC claim. This is one of the steps PCC has taken to support potentially financially vulnerable UC 
claimants at an early stage. Customer Advisors are also able to refer the customer for PBS if in the 
course of the appointment they have concerns that the customer needs further support in managing 
their household budget.

1 until October 2017 only single claimants without children were eligible to apply for UC in Plymouth, so this group 
is likely to be disproportionately high until Full Service is more widely rolled out. 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

UNIVERSAL CREDIT OFFICIAL Page 7 of 8

5.4 In the run up to the start of UC (Full Service) roll out in October, PCC worked in partnership with 
local DWP colleagues to support other organisations who could identify customers early who may 
need UC support. A number of those agencies have expressed a desire to access this referral route 
for PBS and ADS and have been set up to do so. PCC developed a simple, web-based single point of 
entry system that all referral partners now use. It also collates the management information that 
PCC must submit quarterly to DWP in accordance with the partnership agreement.

Discounts and Grants

5.5 PCC administers a number of discount and grant schemes to help customers in financial need. They 
include council tax support, various council tax discounts and Discretionary Housing Payments 
(DHP). DHP may be used to support UC claimants who are eligible for the housing cost element. 
There are a variety of ways that this fund may be used, including to clear rent arrears in order to 
maintain a tenancy and prevent homelessness. This may mitigate against a situation where a UC 
claimant experiences a delay in payment and falls behind with their rent. Front facing PCC staff, 
landlords and other local organisations have been reminded of the schemes available during 
engagement events that have been held in the run up to UC (Full Service) roll out.

5.6 One difficulty experienced with the use of DHP for UC claimants, is that the council needs evidence 
of eligibility for UC in order to award a DHP. This evidence is currently available once DWP have 
assessed the claim, which will be 5 weeks after the initial application. Whilst this is fine for awarding 
grants to those who might need to clear rent arrears or to make up the difference between their 
housing cost and rent, it’s not helpful for those that could use DHP for rent in advance or deposits.

Table 4 - DHP in Plymouth 2014/15 to date

Year DHP Fund DHP Spend Number of Recipients

2014/15 509,776 507,201 1605

2015/16* 408,999 415,836 1191

2016/17 516,842 516,948 1349

2017/18 (to 26/2/18) 725,055 447,217 1225

* January 2016 UC Live Service commences in Plymouth 

5.7 The DWP award DHP funds to local authorities each year and legislation defines the ways that it 
can be spent. The intention of the fund is to support housing benefit and universal credit claimants 
and mitigate some of the impacts of welfare reforms. A guidance manual is published by the DWP 
and is publically available at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/661904/discretionary-
housing-payments-guide.pdf . The DWP require local authorities to classify the awards in a specific 
format and send returns to evidence how the fund has been awarded each year. There is no 
classification on the DWP return that is unique to UC claimants, however analysis of this year to 
date showed that by 5 February 2018 a total of £14,109.55 had been awarded to UC claimants in 
Plymouth. This equates to just over 3% of the sum awarded to date.   

5.8 The DHP grant for 2017/18 was significantly higher than in previous years, in large part due to the 
timetable for UC full service roll out in the city. However, the timetable was changed by the DWP 
in-year which significantly reduced the number of UC claimants and this contributed to the ability to 
award DHP. Other contributions to the difficulty in awarding DHP in 2017/18 include the standard 
assessment period for UC causing problems for evidence of eligibility and the change in DWP policy 
to award up to 100% of UC within one week of application which likely reduced the need for 
applications to DHP funds for rent in advance or rent deposits. The challenges to spending DHP 
allocation in 2017/18 are not unique to Plymouth, 78% of local authorities had spent less than 50% 
of their allocation at the time of the mid year returns to the DWP in September 2017. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/661904/discretionary-housing-payments-guide.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/661904/discretionary-housing-payments-guide.pdf


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

UNIVERSAL CREDIT OFFICIAL Page 8 of 8

Other Support

5.9 Citizens Advice Plymouth work with the Money Advice Service to provide debt advice via face to 
face, telephone and online appointments. They also work with OVO and EDF Energy to help their 
clients to manage their energy arrears and can assist clients to apply for grants to clear their energy 
debts via EDF Energy Trust.

5.10 Get IT Together (working through a national charity, Citizens Online) started in June 2013. Since its 
inception it has worked with multiple partners across the city to deliver basic ICT and online 
training to those who are digitally excluded or who lack the core skills. Working with a variety of 
partners such as City College, North Prospect Community Learning, Plymouth Community Homes, 
Oasis Foodbank, Affinity Sutton, Salvation Army and Library Services has enabled the project to 
reach a diverse range of people across the city, especially in working in key venues such as libraries 
and community centres. The project has also enabled citizens to access the internet through a 
variety of devices increasing the opportunity for people to use online services.

5.11 Our cross party Child Poverty Working Group will be monitoring the impact on child poverty of 
the roll out of UC to families and will react accordingly once it is known .

5.12 UC is a significant change and whilst it is not a benefit that PCC administer, our front facing staff are 
able to confidently and professionally support and signpost customers wherever they present. 

5.13 We work closely with our local DWP partners to support the UC implementation programme and 
as part of that have supported a number of local events for social landlords, private sector 
landlords, PCC staff, DWP staff and voluntary sector organisations. 

___________________________________________________________________________

APPENDIX A
This document is attached to the agenda

UC Plymouth 
Postcodes Roll Out Dates REVISED 9 October 2017.ppt

__________________________________________________________________________

APPENDIX B
This document is attached to the agenda

removal-of-automati
c-entitlement-to-housing-costs-for-18-to-21-year-olds-in-universal-credit-ad-hoc-statistics Jan 2018.pdf

___________________________________________________________________________



Appendix 1

Plymouth dates for UC Full Service

The following Jobcentres and their linked postcodes are anticipated* to go live for Universal Credit 

Full Service Claims from:

Plymouth Old Tree Court Jobcentre Devonport Jobcentre

Tranche 1 : 11th October 2017
PL1   1, 2, 3, 5, 9 

Tranche 2  - 22nd November 2017
PL1   4 

PL 5  1, 2, 3

Tranche 3: 17th January 2018
PL3  4, 5, 6 

PL4  0, 6, 7, 8, 9 

PL5 9

PL5  4  

PL 6  5, 6, 7, 8 

PL7  1, 2, 4, 5, 9

PL8  1, 2

PL9   0, 7, 8, 9

PL18 9

PL19  0, 1, 8, 9   

PL20  6, 7

PL21  0, 1, 9

Tranche 3 - 17th January 2018
PL 2   1, 2, 3, 9    

PL10 1   

PL 11  2, 3 

PL12  4, 5, 6, 9 

Plymouth City Council Postcode

West Devon BC Postcode

South Hams DC Postcode

Cornwall Country Council Postcode
* Planned roll-out schedule as of 26.9.17



Local Roll Out Dates (Planned roll-out schedule as of 26.9.17)

Month Local Authority Jobcentre area

11th October 2017 Plymouth City Council Plymouth JCP*

(*Also serves West Devon Borough Council , South Hams, Teignbridge and Torridge)

22nd November 2017 Plymouth City Council Devonport JCP 

(* Also serves Cornwall Council)

6th December 2017 Cornwall Council Bude JCP

Launceston JCP

Liskeard JCP

17th January 2018 Plymouth City Council Plymouth JCP (Remaining Postcodes)

Devonport JCP (Remaining Postcodes)

14th February 2018 Cornwall Council Bodmin JCP

Newquay JCP

St Austell JCP

Truro JCP

14th March 2018 Cornwall Council Helston JCP 

Penryn JCP

Penzance JCP* 

(*Also serves Council of the Isles of Scilly)

Redruth JCP

Council of the Isles of Scilly Penzance JCP*

(* Also serves Cornwall Council)

4th April 2018 East Devon District Council Honiton JCP

Mid Devon District Council Tiverton JCP

North Devon District Council Barnstaple JCP

Torridge District Council Bideford JCP

30th May 2018 South Hams District Council Totnes JCP

Teignbridge District Council Newton Abbot JCP

Torbay Council Brixham JCP

Torquay JCP

6th June 2018 Exeter City Council Exeter JCP*

(*Also serves West Devon Borough Council)

West Devon Borough Council Exeter JCP*

(*Also serves Exeter City Council)



1 
 

 

Removal of automatic entitlement to housing costs for 18-21 
year olds in Universal Credit  
April 2017 to June 2017 

 

 One off 
Published: 11 January 2018 
Great Britain Ad hoc 

 

From April 2017 the Government removed the automatic entitlement to support for housing costs for single, childless 18 to 21 year olds claiming Universal 
Credit (UC) subject to all work-related requirements. There are exemptions for vulnerable claimants, those in work or who have recently left work, and the 
policy applies only to those who can reasonably be expected to live in the parental home but choose not to do so.   

Main stories  

96% of 18-21 year olds who applied for support for 
housing costs were awarded it. 

  
 

50% of claimants aged 18-21 awarded support for housing 
costs in UC had dependent children, which exempts 
claimants from the policy. 

 

  
 



2 
 

 

 
 

 
At a glance 

 

  

UC claimants aged 18-21 awarded and 
refused support for housing costs 

3 

  

Reasons for exemptions   4 
  

About these statistics 5 

 

 

  

 

What you need to know 
Background to support for housing costs with UC for 18-21 year olds 

UC was introduced in April 2013 in certain areas.  It has been progressively rolled out to other areas 
through Live Service and, more recently, Full Service.  From 1st April 2017 automatic entitlement to 
support for housing costs was removed for 18-21 year olds in UC Full Service areas. The intention of the 
policy is that young people in the benefit system should face the same choices as other young people 
who go out to work but cannot yet afford to leave the parental home. 

The policy does not apply to Housing Benefit.  The policy does not apply to claimants who had been in 
receipt of support for housing costs in UC prior to 1st April 2017 and who have ongoing housing costs 
after that date.  In addition, the policy does not apply to claimants receiving support for housing costs 
through Live Service immediately prior to transferring to Full Service.  The policy applies only to new 
claims for support for housing costs in UC Full Service areas for those who can reasonably be expected 
to live in the parental home but choose not to do so.  There are various exemptions from the policy.  
These include, but are not limited to: 

 couples and those with dependent children; 
 those in work with net earnings above the monthly equivalent of working 16 hours per week at 

the National Minimum Wage; 
 victims of domestic violence; 
 some disabled people and carers. 

The figures presented in this release are based on new claims for support for housing costs.  They 
include cases flowing back on to UC after a period not in receipt of benefit.  They exclude re-awards and 
re-refusals within claims where reassessment for entitlement to support for housing cost occurs following 
a change of circumstances. 

Purpose of this ad hoc statistical release  

The analysis in this statistical release shows the number of 18-21 year olds awarded and refused support 
for housing costs since April 2017 when the new regulations came into force.  

Information about the analysis and statistics 

This publication presents statistics on the number of new awards to UC support for housing costs where 
claimants are entitled to UC and have applied for support for housing costs and were either awarded 
support for housing costs or refused it.  For information on how the statistics were produced see ‘About 
these statistics’ (p5).   

Lead Analyst: Edmund O’Mahony 

Edmund.O’Mahony@dwp.gsi.gov.uk 

DWP Press Office: 0203 267 5129 

Comments? Feedback is welcome 

 

Published 11th January 2018 

ISBN 978-1-78659-009-1 
© Crown copyright 



3 
 

 
UC claimants aged 18-21 awarded and refused support for housing costs  

The chart below shows the number of UC claimants aged 18-21 awarded and refused support for housing costs between April and June 2017.  This is 
based on new claims for support for housing costs made after 1st April 2017 when the new regulations came into force. 

In each of the three months less than 6% of 18-21 year olds who applied for support for housing costs were refused it. 

See table 1 for full data. 

The majority of 18-21 year olds who claimed support for housing costs were awarded it 
Number of 18-21 year olds awarded or refused support for housing costs 

 

 

 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

Apr May Jun

Housing costs refused

Housing costs awarded



4 
 

Reasons for exemptions 
There are many reasons why someone may be exempted from the general rule that those aged 18-21 are not entitled to support for housing costs through 
UC.  The chart below shows statistics on the types of exemption that applied to those aged 18-21 who were awarded support for housing costs which can 
be identified in UC data.  Note that cases may be exempted for more than one reason e.g. a couple with dependent children. 

The largest single group is those with dependent children.  This group made up 50% (one in two) of the cases awarded support for housing costs.  The next 
largest group is couples (29%).  The third largest group is those whose net earnings were above the monthly equivalent of working 16 hours per week at 
the national minimum wage.  ‘Some other reason’ includes certain vulnerable people and those unable to live with their parents. 
 

 
 

See table 2 for full data. 
 

 

 

 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Dependent
children

Couples Earning 16 x
NMW

Receiving
Limited

Capability for
Work element

Some other
reason



5 
 

About these statistics 

UC full service and UC live service 

UC is being introduced in stages across Great Britain by postcode area. UC is available to all types of claimants in certain areas of Great Britain.   

UC was introduced in April 2013 in certain areas.  It has been progressively rolled out to other areas through Live Service and, more recently, Full Service.  
UC Live Service is available to a restricted group of claimants and will end in January 2018.  In time, all UC claims will be through Full Service. 

Methodology 

There are differences in definitions between the statistics in this ad hoc statistical release and Official Statistics on UC that mean the figures are not directly 
comparable. 

Claimants exempted from the policy, and so entitled to support for housing costs, were identified from their monthly UC statement which showed that the 
housing costs element was paid. 

Claimants not exempted from the policy and refused support for housing costs were identified based on not receiving support for housing costs (as 
evidenced by their monthly UC statement) and having an indicator flag in the data record showing that an assessment of age-based entitlement to support 
for housing costs had been undertaken. 

The figures presented in this release are based on new claims to support for housing costs.  They include cases flowing back on to UC after a period not in 
receipt of benefit.  They exclude re-awards and re-refusals within claims where reassessment for entitlement to support for housing cost occurs following a 
change of circumstances; these cases are, at most, counted only once for receiving support for housing costs and once only again for being refused 
support for housing costs. 

In a small number of cases claimants may be refused support for housing costs and have no other entitlement to UC, e.g. due to earnings. In these 
instances, claimants are excluded from the statistics presented here. In most circumstances, claimants affected by the policy will be entitled to UC on the 
basis of having earnings below 16 x national minimum wage per week.   

The data is subject to some minor retrospection. This is because in some instances awards may be revised retrospectively.   

 

 

Where to find out more 

General introduction to Universal Credit - https://www.gov.uk/universal-credit 
 
Benefit caseload and expenditure - https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/benefit-expenditure-and-caseload-tables-2017 
 
The roll out of Universal Credit - https://www.gov.uk/government/news/next-phase-in-rollout-of-universal-credit-confirmed 

https://www.gov.uk/universal-credit
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/benefit-expenditure-and-caseload-tables-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/next-phase-in-rollout-of-universal-credit-confirmed




V2 01/08/16 OFFICIAL

SELECT COMMITTEE REVIEW PLAN
Overview and Scrutiny

SELECT COMMITTEE TOPIC

UNIVERSAL CREDIT

Raised by  - Place and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Date - 1 November 2017

Purpose of Review
Universal Credit is a means tested benefit for people of working age who are on low income.  It will replace 
six existing benefits Income Support, Income-based Jobseeker’s Allowance, Income-related Employment and 
Support Allowance, Housing Benefit, Child Tax Credit and Working Tax Credit.  Universal Credit is intended 
to be simpler than the current system of benefits and tax credits. Universal Credit Full Service has been rolled 
out in three phases across the City (11 October 2017, 22 November 2017 and 17 January 2018).

At the meeting of the Place and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny meeting held on 1 November 2017, the 
Committee considered the impact of Universal Credit (Housing Element) and recommended that a Select  
Committee Review was held to consider the following key areas –

 clarity and understanding of the impact of Universal Credit on different groups;
 impact of Universal Credit on other Council services which are not commissioned by the Department 

of Work and Pensions;
 exchange of information mechanisms which were currently in place between the Department of Work 

and Pensions and the Council and whether these were fit for purpose to help aid ongoing monitoring 
of Universal Credit;

 the ability of social housing  landlords to provide ongoing community support and if able to continue 
this practice the impact on their house building plans;

 the willingness of private landlords to take on Universal Credit claimants due to the risk of arrears or 
to accept rent up to six weeks in arrears;

 the implications on the private rented sector homelessness prevention, if tenants were evicted or 
refused tenancies;

 the impact of the length of time it takes to process Universal Credit claims (six weeks) on rent arrears 
and potential eviction;

 the support being offered to tenants to sustain tenancies and minimise arrears;
 the impact on landlords both social and private from the introduction of Universal Credit;
 the impact on services provided by charities, foodbanks and community groups.

Select Committee Membership

Joint Committee Membership with Wellbeing (Homelessness and Housing) sit under the responsibilities of 
Wellbeing  - nine Councillors (five conservatives/four labour councillors).

Process

Methodology/Approach Single Select Committee session to be held in the Council House with invited 
witnesses, presentation from officers and relevant paperwork.



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL

SELECT COMMITTEE REVIEW PLAN Page 2 of 2

Sources of 
Information/Evidence

Place and Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Minutes 1 November 2017

http://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/g7582/Printed%20minutes%20
Wednesday%2001-Nov-
2017%2013.00%20Place%20and%20Corporate%20Overview%20and%20Scruti
ny%20Committee.pdf?T=1

Plymouth City Council Report to Place and Corporate OSC Agenda1 November 
2017

http://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/b18617/Supplement%20Pack%2
0Wednesday%2001-Nov-
2017%2013.00%20Place%20and%20Corporate%20Overview%20and%20Scruti
ny%20Committee.pdf?T=9

Child Poverty Action Group

Shelter

Consultation Exercises Not applicable

Witness/Expert 
Participation

Witnesses will be sought from –

 Department of Work and Pensions
 Social Landlords
 Private Landlords
 Advice Plymouth
 Local Charities
 Community Groups
 Foodbanks
 Credit Union
 MPs
 Plymouth City Council Cabinet Member and Officer(s)
 National Level – Shelter and Child Poverty Action Group

Site Visits None identified.

Resource Requirements Will be met through existing scrutiny resources. 

Post Review

Reporting Process The Select Committee will make direct recommendations to Cabinet

Anticipated Completion Date Single session 14 March 2018

Draft Report Deadline Minutes/Recommendations 28 March 2018.

Meeting Frequency Single session

Date of Meeting 14 March 2018

Further Information N/A

http://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/g7582/Printed%20minutes%20Wednesday%2001-Nov-2017%2013.00%20Place%20and%20Corporate%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=1
http://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/g7582/Printed%20minutes%20Wednesday%2001-Nov-2017%2013.00%20Place%20and%20Corporate%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=1
http://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/g7582/Printed%20minutes%20Wednesday%2001-Nov-2017%2013.00%20Place%20and%20Corporate%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=1
http://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/g7582/Printed%20minutes%20Wednesday%2001-Nov-2017%2013.00%20Place%20and%20Corporate%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=1
http://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/b18617/Supplement%20Pack%20Wednesday%2001-Nov-2017%2013.00%20Place%20and%20Corporate%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/b18617/Supplement%20Pack%20Wednesday%2001-Nov-2017%2013.00%20Place%20and%20Corporate%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/b18617/Supplement%20Pack%20Wednesday%2001-Nov-2017%2013.00%20Place%20and%20Corporate%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=9
http://democracy.plymouth.gov.uk/documents/b18617/Supplement%20Pack%20Wednesday%2001-Nov-2017%2013.00%20Place%20and%20Corporate%20Overview%20and%20Scrutiny%20Committee.pdf?T=9


Version Jan 2016

TIMETABLE
Universal Credit

Witnesses will be invite to speak which will be followed by a question and answer session.

Witnesses Representing Time

Iain Maitland South West Landlord 
Association

10.45am

Break (11.15am)

Liz Philips 

Nicky Kingston

Plymouth Community Homes 11.30am

Paul Williams City of Plymouth Credit Union 12pm

Vicki Sampson Shelter (Devon and Cornwall) 12.30pm

Break for Lunch (1pm – 2pm)

Eunice Halliday Plymouth Food Bank 2pm

Dave Ringwood PATH (Plymouth Access to 
Housing Limited)

2.30pm

Nick Dilworth Plymouth Citizen’s Advice 3pm

Break (4pm)

Recommendations 4.15pm




	Agenda
	5a Overview and Universal Credit Update Report
	Appendix 1 - UC Update Report
	Appendix 2 - UC Update Report

	5b Select Committee Review Plan
	5c Timetable of Witnesses

